
SENATE GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION COMMITTEE
Informational Hearing

Forecasting Revenues:  A look at Indian Gaming Compacts and State Budget Revenue Estimates
February 2, 2005

State Capitol

Sacramento, California

Senator Dean Florez, Chair


SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  I would like to call the Senate Governmental Organization Committee to order.  This is an informational hearing.  The topic is “Forecasting Revenues:  A look at Indian Gaming Compacts and State Budget Revenue Estimates.” 


I want to thank the members, Senator Cox and Senator Soto who are here, other members, if you are within listening distance we would appreciate your participation.  

Let me say, first and foremost, thank you to the staff who put together this particular hearing.  Obviously there’s a lot to discuss this morning.  But I would like to say that for most of you who came to our hearing two weeks ago, we had an information hearing pertaining to the Lytton Band proposed casino in San Pablo.  I can tell you that hearing was very beneficial.  I think it allowed the Legislature and the general public to have a much better understanding of, if you will, the many consequences involved in locating a new casino in an urban area.


Today’s hearing also is in that mode—an informational hearing.  It’s intended to give this committee and its members a better grasp of the newly negotiated and renegotiated Indian compacts.  And I can tell you that these compacts that were ratified in June and August of 2004, obviously to provide direct payments to the state’s General Fund, and more importantly, to finance a good potion of our transportation bonds for 109 statewide projects, will be the topic for today.

This committee is particularly interested in finding out whether or not state share revenue from gaming compacts has met projected levels; how these projections were determined; and ultimately, what are the budget ramifications for the state of California; and what happens if they are not met?  So these are some of the topics that we would definitely like to discuss today.


I do want to thank everyone who has signed up, if you will, to come to the hearing.  We’re going to start with Elizabeth Hill, our Legislative Analyst.  I have questions.  If you have statements, please let me know before you come up to the podium that you have a statement.  If not, we’ll proceed directly to the questions and then we will move from there.


I would like to state, if you have been to my hearings before, that we periodically will take a small break, but in today’s hearing we have so much to talk about that we may proceed on.  
I will let you know that State Treasurer Angelides is set to appear in about an hour plus.  I will break at that point, whoever the witnesses are to listen to our treasurer.  He, obviously, has some comments of great interest in terms of the bonds and we would like to give him that opportunity to give us his comments; take some questions from the members; and then we’ll proceed back onto the agenda.  


So that being said, Ms. Hill, thank you for joining us today.  We very much appreciate your testimony.


ELIZABETH HILL:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and members.  And with me today is Mr. Michael Cohen, who is the director of our State Administration Section in the office.  And Mr. Cohen’s section has both the Gambling Control Commission, as well as Tribal Gaming Issues, so he’s our real expert today.  But we do have a brief statement, Mr. Chairman.  I believe the handout is in your packet, and I think it might set some of the background that you can build on as your hearing proceeds.


Certainly it’s important to point out that under federal law Indian tribes are sovereign nations, and as such, they basically are not required to pay most federal, state, and local taxes.  But also it’s important to note, that both federal law and the state constitution allow the tribes to conduct gaming as long as a compact is entered into between the state and the individual tribes.  Currently we have 66 tribes in California with compacts, operating about 56,000 machines.


On page-1 of our handout we discuss the 1999 compacts.  Most of the tribes that I mentioned have compacts that date back to 1999, entered into with the state of California.  They will expire in the year 2020.  


The 1999 compacts set a limit of 2,000 machines in terms of gambling for each tribe at up to two facilities.  And in exchange for those compacts there were basically two sets of revenue coming to the state.  The first $46 million deposited in the Revenue Trust Fund.  These are based on fees paid on a per slot machine basis.  And basically these payments then are in turn distributed by the Gambling Control Commission to tribes that either have no gaming, or those tribes that operate less than 350 machines.


In addition, there is a Special Distribution Fund which totals 
$100 million annually.  Payments to the Special Distribution Fund are based on net win of the machines that were in operation as of September 1, 1999.  And the Legislature has the authority as to how to distribute this money.  It’s done both in the annual Budget Act, particularly for the regulatory costs related to the compacts, and then there are three additional items of appropriation, or appropriated purposes—local government grants, and those have totaled $25 million in the 2003/4 fiscal year, and then $30 million in the ’04/’05 fiscal year.  There is also the authority for a gambling addiction program.  Such a program was established in 2003 in the Department of Alcohol and Drug Program.  Three million dollars is appropriated for that purpose, though I must advise you that that has been difficult in terms of getting that $3 million out the door.

And finally, transfers are allowable to the revenue sharing trust fund.  And in the last two fiscal years, the Legislature has moved roughly $50 million in each year back from the Special Distribution Fund to the revenue sharing trust fund for distribution to those tribes, as I mentioned.


Now if you turn to the second page of our handout with regard to the 2004 compacts….you mentioned these in your opening, Mr. Chairman….five tribes signed compacts in late June.  These were basically amendments to the 1999 compacts.  Four additional tribes signed compacts with the state in late August.  Two of these were amendments, and two were new tribal gaming compacts.


With regard to the 2004 compacts, there’s no limit on the number of machines.  There is also the fixed annual payment for the Transportation Bond, which you mentioned.  Basically these are $100 million annual payments from the five tribes.  So, the tribes signing in June, beginning January 1, 2005.  So, just last month.  The 2004/5 budget enacted by the Legislature assumed that these revenues would back a bond to retire a loan that the state had taken from transportation funds.  In the governor’s budget that was released to the Legislature last month, because of pending litigation, the Administration has advised you that those will not be sold in the current year, in ’04/’05, but instead are anticipated to be sold in the 2005/6 fiscal year if the Legislature basically concurs.

There is also, I think, one key feature of the 2004 compacts unlike the 1999 compacts, that General Fund payments are made to the state that then can be spent for any purpose.  These are on a per slot machine basis.  And we indicate in the handout how these fees are structured.  It’s a sliding scale that is used.


The Administration is now estimating in the budget proposal, that 
$16 million will be received in these General Fund payments in the current year, and $34 million in the budget year. 


Now, I think, as you mentioned in your opening, Mr. Chairman, this is an important issue for the committee.  For example, the budget that was enacted for 2004/5 assumed that the state would receive $300 million for this purpose.  That has now been revised downward to the $16 million.  
We think that it was appropriate to revise the estimate downward.  It seemed high to us when the budget was enacted.  I would advise you, I think the $16 million is a conservative number.  If you just look at payments that have been received today based on the current number of machines, it might be closer to the $18 million range.  But we do think it was appropriate for the Administration to revise the estimate downward.  The budget year estimate frankly, will depend on the number of machines because that is how it is calculated and that, again, may be affected by additional agreements reached by the Administration.


I would finally just note that in the 2004 compact, there are some additional payments to the revenue sharing trust fund, but not to the Special Distribution Fund.  Basically the General Fund authority and the General Fund payments took the place of that in the ’04 compacts.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Let me just give you some broad questions for the record first, so that we can kind of establish a foundation.


You mentioned the Administration’s budget estimates in terms of General Fund, and it’s now $16 million.  You’re saying maybe it could be 
$18 million, but those are the base dollars—correct?  


MS. HILL:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Your thoughts on, you support the downward revision from $300 million, but your thoughts on how we….where’s the other $280 million?  Where is it?


MS. HILL:  Well I think the difficulty that both the Administration and the Legislature has faced at each budget is that these are based on sometimes pending negotiations between the state and the tribes.  The Legislature has not been party to those negotiations as they’ve been going on, and so it’s been difficult to come up with the estimates.  The estimates have varied considerably.  If you look, for example, this time last year there was a large estimate of about $1.5 billion.  So it is important for the Legislature to look at these individual estimates.  The $300 million was what was the budget as enacted.  And again, we think that it was important for the Administration to be conservative as it revised that estimate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I know we’re going to hear from the Department of Finance a little later, but let me just go off something you said—the Legislature should, in essence, be part of negotiations for oversight?  The Legislature should say a yes or a no, up or down, in terms of the legal structure of what comes to the committee?  I mean, what is the best way for the Legislature to become active, and in what aspect should we become active, if you will, in terms of Indian gaming revenue and making sure that we’re on point every single budget year?


MS. HILL:  I think there’s a couple important factors to consider.  If you look historically as to when the gambling compacts have come to the Legislature for consideration, they tend to be very much at the end of the process, either before adjournment prior to the summer recess, or before the final adjournment of the Legislature for the year.  That precludes, in our view, the type of oversight that I think the Legislature could appropriately perform on those compacts to ensure that they meet the state’s objectives; that the estimates are realistic in terms of the General Fund payments, as well as the other various components of the compacts because these are long-term agreements between the state of California and the tribes.


For example, in the 2004 compacts, these go out to the year 2030.  And so it’s very important that the Legislature satisfy itself.  

I think, secondly, you really want to look at how funds are distributed.  We have both activities in the Department of Justice, as well as the Gambling Control Commission in the annual budget process.  I think it’s important to evaluate on an oversight basis, are those functions functioning as the Legislature wants?  So those are a couple of key issues.

I think the final one is the issue of enforcement of both the number of machines that are actually out there, because the number of times those payments to the state are dependent on the number of machines, and sometimes the information has been difficult to ascertain.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so is it fair to characterize what you’re suggesting to the committee is that rather than the last two nights of session in terms of passing these, we ought to have the Administration move into these particular negotiations and end these negotiations early enough within our legislative year that we have the opportunity to do what we’re doing today, and that is to vet through the assumptions, the estimates, and ultimately, what the revenue might be.

MS. HILL:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, that would be our viewpoint.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so, well, I’ll just leave it at that.  Let’s go to the revenue backed bond for transportation that you mentioned earlier.  Should we, you know there’s been discussion about we should have done it that way; we should do it “the pay as you go.”  You take the $100 million and you do it, as we go versus bonding against it in an 18-year revenue bond.  Your thoughts on this particular structure?


MS. HILL:  I think with regard to transportation you really want to step back and figure out how you want to do the repayments of all of the pending transportation loans.  The one at issue that is backed by tribal gaming revenues is one of three that the state still owes.  The Administration also in this budget is again proposing to suspend Proposition 42, and the Administration can certainly explain their position.  But in reading the budget summary, it’s our understanding that the suspension would be a loan, again, with payments to repay.  So I think part of the issue that the committee will want to consider in the transportation context is, are these loans; how are they going to be repaid; and when?  In addition to the one at issue here, we have a loan payable in 2007/8 of $1.2 billion from the 2004/5 suspension, and then we have another $862 million loan from the partial suspension of 
Proposition 42 in ’03/’04.  So as you look at this particular loan which otherwise would have been payable from the General Fund in ’05/’06, the Legislature then changed that at the Administration’s request to have it backed by the tribal gaming revenues.  

How likely is it that that loan can actually, or that bond can actually be sold?  I think you will hear from the treasurer later on today, but there is litigation pending against the bond proposal.  That’s part of the reason it has been moved from the ’04/’05 budget to the ’05/’06 budget.  

I would also advise you, there is language in the proposed trailer bill from the Administration that in the event that that bond is not sold or not sold at the entire level as proposed, $1.2 billion, that that would not be a General Fund responsibility.  So there are a lot of very complicated issues related to the loan and its funding source, but I think you’ll want to look at them not just with this one loan, but frankly all of the loans related to the suspension of Prop. 42.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, would it be an option for us to just spend the money now, or is this something that has to be, in essence, part of a bond?

MS. HILL:  An option to spend the $150 million tribal gaming?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MS. HILL:  The $150 million is a 2-year estimate.  So for the current year and budget year combined, you could change existing law, but you would have to also weight that against the General Fund and also the effect it would have on transportation projects.

One of the difficulties in the transportation area is to schedule a project.  All of the funding needs to be identified up front.  And so if the flow of that money back to transportation is not secure, then the transportation projects can’t be moved forward.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And is it, in terms of the bonds from your perspective, I think it’s sized at about $1.2 billion or something of that sort.  I think the treasurer has said maybe it’s closer to $800 million.  Why the discrepancy?  Why would the treasurer say $800 million and in essence, in the budget or reflective of that, is a repayment of $1.2 billion?  What am I missing there between those two numbers?

MS. HILL:  I would suggest, Mr. Chairman, you direct that to the treasurer so that he can give his sense.  We are aware of his view.  And as we did our forecast back in November, it was the $842 million figure that we reflected.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so you had an $842 million figure.

MS. HILL:  Based on the advice of what the treasurer thought could be marketed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, I gotcha.  Just in terms of the compacts, you mentioned the ability to, as we go forward, at least not on the bond side, but on the going forward side with some of the slots, have you looked at, the LAO looked at, any sort of enforcement problems that would prevent, if you will, more from coming in, or is this simply a limitation of facilities?  I mean, what, in essence, happens there?
MS. HILL:  I think Mr. Cohen is in a better position to answer that question.

MICHAEL COHEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The Gambling Control Commission does have a $5 million budget proposal that we’re reviewing right now as part of our budget analysis, and basically that proposal would put forward a doubling of the staff to try to address some of these issues.  We’re not to the point where we’ve drawn any conclusions on that yet.  Clearly there are, and have been, staff limitations at the Gambling Control in order to do full enforcement and full auditing, but to what extent they need that additional staff, we’re still reviewing and we’ll have a recommendation for the Legislature at the end of the month in our analysis to the budget.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in part of that analysis is there a justification of a backlog?  I mean, what’s the reason for seeking additional auditors and enforcers?

MR. COHEN:  The major justification as put forward by the commission so far has been that these new compacts create a new workload, and certainly to the extent now that the funds are coming into the General Fund as opposed to special funds, the state’s got more involvement in terms of making sure that those payments are coming in as expected.  So that’s one of the major factors.  You’ll hear from the commission later on.  You could certainly ask them why they, in terms of the 1999 compacts, may or may not need additional staff to continue to enforce those.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just maybe two more questions in terms of the overall structure.  Tribes, obviously, are sending dollars in.  They’ve got to meet some expectation in terms of a bond.  That seems to have come in.  We’re going to Finance about that in a moment.  And on the other side we have a revision down from $300 million to about $16 or so, and that’s a conservative estimate.  In terms of what is flowing in then, are there any other flows that come into the General Fund from tribes other than those two?
MR. COHEN:  Those are the two payments.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The racetracks bring any funds?  Are they paying anything?

MR. COHEN:  Into very special funds.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But is it part of the flow?

MR. COHEN:  It’s part of the Gambling Control Commission’s flow.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And card clubs?

MR. COHEN:  The same answer.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  In terms of the demand for services that you’ve mentioned, bigger amount, slots coming in, more enforcement needed?  In your analysis, how do you try to equate whether or not those fulltime equivalents are actually what is needed?  You know, the additional 42?  Or how does one do that?

MS. HILL:  Senator, I think as Mr. Cohen indicated, we’re in the midst of just trying to do that assessment now, so we will have an answer for you, but we don’t have it today.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Members, are there any questions of the Leg Analyst?  Let me thank you both.  And Senator Soto, do you have an opening statement?  I apologize.

MS. HILL:  Mr. Chairman, members, I indicated to the Chair that because of the budget analysis we have to head back, but we’re happy to follow up with the committee if there’s additional questions that we can be helpful with.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I appreciate that.  Thank you very much.  

SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  Mr. Chairman?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, Senator Vincent.

SENATOR VINCENT:  The racetracks were involved in it and they put in certain funds.  Which funds is he referring to, and how much?  Not that I know anything about that _________.

MR. COHEN:  I can get back to the committee on the exact number of dollars, but they’re basically regulatory funds, where they’re paying license fees for the state to regulate the racetracks.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, okay.  Well, anyway.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Could you get that for Senator Vincent and for the committee?  That would be great.

MR. COHEN:  Absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, Senator Cox.

SENATOR DAVE COX:  Ms. Hill, before you leave let me ask one question if I may.  Does the Department of Finance share its assumptions with the Legislative Analyst’s Office?
MS. HILL:  Yes, Senator Cox, we’ve been working with the Administration on the assumptions.

SENATOR COX:  And budgets are always made up based upon assumptions, and when the assumptions don’t come out as the assumption is forecast, then you obviously have some sort of different result.  Did you analyze the assumptions that were used in the calculation for the $300 million?

MS. HILL:  As I mentioned, we thought it was high at the time, and so we thought it was important to have the downward adjustment.
SENATOR COX:  And I appreciate that.  Based upon the assumptions that were used, had those assumptions all proved to be correct, would the number have been $300 million?

MS. HILL:  I’d have to go back and check, Senator Cox.  There have been too many numbers through my head in the intervening period.

SENATOR COX:  I understand.  Not a problem.  I just wanted to make the point, Mr. Chairman, that budgets are always made using assumptions, and to the extent that your facts are not correct and things don’t come together, things don’t always work out the way you expect them.  But I appreciate the Leg Analyst’s comments.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Senator Denham.

SENATOR JEFF DENHAM:  The assumptions that you are using, were they based on the five tribes that have negotiated compacts, or did they also include the additional seven compacts that were supposed to be included in last year’s budget?

MS. HILL:  Senator, and Mr. Cohen can help me out here, but the difficulty you had last year as the budget was being enacted, you had the May revision that made an estimate prior to the final figures being available to the Legislature from the five tribes for the 2004 compacts.  So there were assumptions made by the Administration, and I don’t recall them all.  Mr. Cohen, can help here.

MR. COHEN:  Sure.  The $300 million really at the time was, the Administration reported that there were going to be additional compacts coming.  And if those compacts had come, and certainly some of them did, the $300 million may have been an appropriate number sort of in the long-term in terms of all of those compacts fully adding slot machines.  What we’re experiencing now is really sort of the transition ramp up effect.  But the Administration has now switched its estimating to really just estimate those compacts that are on the books, at this point, that the Legislature has approved, whereas, the original estimate was more a looking forward that we expect to have more compacts signed and implemented.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Looking forward based on the will of the Legislature, and I think what Senator Florez is trying to figure out in his questioning is, the difference between the $300 million that was proposed in the budget, and the $130 million which is a number that is being utilized by the five compacts.  In your assumptions, looking at last year’s budget, were you assuming….you said that you were looking at reducing that, are your estimates reduced that $300 million.  You thought it was something less than 
$300 million.  Was it closer to the $130 million because you believed there were only going to be five compacts, or did you go with the total assumption that there would be seven additional tribes and that could possibly be somewhere close to the $300 million?

MR. COHEN:  I don’t remember the exact number, but it was certainly substantially lower than $300- largely based on, even if more compacts had been submitted to the Legislature and they were approved, tribes weren’t going to add thousands of slot machines on day one.  That there would have to be some sort of implementation schedule.  So, our estimate was substantially lower, but we were taking the Administration at face value.  That there were going to be additional compacts proposed, at least, in the budget year.
SENATOR DENHAM:  So going back to Senator Cox’s question, when you’re looking at a list of assumptions that we’re building a budget from, your list of assumptions at the time was, that we were not only going to have the five compacts that were negotiated, but also have seven additional compacts that were being negotiated, and that was the big disparity between the two numbers.

MS. HILL:  Senator Denham, first, I’m not sure I follow your 130, but as we tried to answer you, the Administration was involved in the negotiations.  They advised and the Legislature concurred in budget discussions that $300 million was the right number.  When we did our November forecast and we looked at the actual amount that had come in, in advising you of the state’s fiscal condition for 2004/5, we lowered that $300 million.  And so at each point in the process, both the Administration and our shop have to make the best assumptions that we can.  And so in part, last year as the budget was being enacted, there were a lot of negotiations going on and it was hard to substitute our judgment for the Administration’s judgment and then the Legislature’s ultimate judgment in approving the compacts exactly how many would be approved prior to the Budget Act’s adoption.
SENATOR DENHAM:  I understand that.  And what my question is, is when you were looking at the assumptions that we were all dealing with last year, did you lower it because you didn’t believe that the five tribes that negotiated compacts were going to reach their full potential and otherwise their numbers were true numbers that was a good assumption to make, or was it the fact that we were dealing with brand new compacts at the time that were coming very late in the session and you were unsure of the will of the Legislature on how many compacts would actually be ratified?

MS. HILL:  I think it was particularly the ramp up issue that Mr. Cohen discussed a few moments ago.  How quickly, if you did have additional slot machines, would they come on line, and how many additional machines were in effect authorized by the new compacts which took off the 2,000 limit?
SENATOR DENHAM:  So the main thing that you were questioning last year then, and I don’t want to put words in your mouth, but the main thing that you were questioning was the amount of compacts that could be ratified and then implemented, not necessarily whether or not each compact, the numbers in those compacts would actually produce the numbers that were assumed at the time?
MR. COHEN:  One of the problems is, is that the $300 million didn’t have the same level of detail attached to it as the $16 million number that we’re looking at now.  So it’s a little bit hard to answer your question exactly. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s hard because we don’t know why the Administration walked away from $280 million—right?

MR. COHEN:  I’m not sure…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You can’t tell us why that happened.  That’s why it’s hard—right?
MS. HILL:  Senator Florez, it’s not our view that they walked away from $280 million.  That may be the committee’s view, but we think it’s a more realistic estimate of the dollars that will actually come to the state of California in 2004/5.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Because those were compacts signed.  That’s why we have harder numbers for the $16 million—correct?  That’s all you can base it on.

MS. HILL:  It’s number of machines plus compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, the new compacts—right?

MR. COHEN:  Right.  But in terms of how much a particular compact brings in, it’s not the state’s decision.  Ultimately, the compacts could bring far greater than any number if the tribes decided to keep adding machines.  For each machine they add, the state gets more dollars.  So it’s a matter of having a realistic assessment of how many of those machines are going to be added and on what time table.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions members?  Thank you very much.

MS. HILL:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s have Anthony Hernandez, Director of Legislation, Governor’s Office of Planning and Research.  Thank you for joining us.  I don’t know if you have an opening statement or…

ANTHONY HERNANDEZ:  I’d like to be able to answer some of the questions that have been brought up.  I think, the question by Senator Cox that….Liz has done a good job explaining what we had, but the Senator had talked about assumptions that we had coming into it and what that led us to believe at the time.  
If we rewind time back and look at the 1999 compacts before, that the state was getting zero money for the General Fund for the most part.  And the invitation really didn’t negotiate with the tribes that were there, something, I think in excess of 20 tribes, based on that with the assumption that the Governor made about a 25 percent of net win, that’s where you get that higher number.  Now, you can get further down into that, well how do you get to net win?  Well, you talk to gaming consultants and you get a number and you base that on machines, and you work it out and you come up with a number.  That’s where you get the number from.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now 25 percent of those who were willing to sign the compacts, or 25 percent of those potentially that could have had compacts?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Twenty-five percent of net win.  Assuming you get all 22 or 23, however many tribes, that at the time that we had started the process of negotiating the tribes, or negotiating or renegotiating…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The people that came.

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Yeah.  You know, you come up with a number.  Now, that number, you assume that that’s going to happen.  Now, when those things, you get better numbers towards the end and the fact that you work out negotiations with some tribes, you don’t work out, that 25 number that you want may shift a little bit because of other impacts or things that you have to take into consideration, then that number gets shifted down.  Now, that’s why you see, in this budget year, a lower number of $16 million based on, now we have actual tribes that we’ve signed compacts with.  And those, we actually have hard numbers, and I think Finance can talk to the numbers, to give you a better idea of what how much dollars we expect to get over the course of the year.  
Now let me make some things with that numbers, that assumes that we get no more tribes.  You have before you the Lytton compact.  Now if that happens that number will increase.  And if we get other negotiations that happen and more compacts get sent down, if they get ratified, that number will also increase.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  What are the major differences between the five tribal compacts ratified in June and the four tribal compacts that were ratified in August?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  They’re very similar, but there are different….for each of the tribes, the five that were done in June, were, I’d say, almost identical.  Very, very similar in terms of the amount of money.  They’re on….three different funds that we receive in terms of the revenue sharing trust fund, all of them are at $500,000 with the caveat that the Pomo tribe is at a lower number until their facility is finished, or 2008, and those are fixed fees that will come in.  And I hope I said $500,000 per quarter and not per year, because it’s $2 million per year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. HERNANDEZ:  The device fees are basically all on the same schedule.  Each of the tribes have different….these are again, for the first five….have differing current machines that they have.  They all don’t have the same amount.  So as far as that goes, the schedule is the same, though.  I think if you hit the 2001 trigger, or, you know, each of the schedules is different.  It goes deeper depending on how many machines they currently have.  But I know, having looked at them, if you all hit the 2001 I think the device fee goes up to $12,000 per machine—for each of those five.  For those five, each of them have a different flat fixed fee that would be securitized.  I can go through the amounts if you’d like, but they’re just different amounts based on, I guess, their estimates of how much net win we would receive.  So those are easy to kind of go through in terms of the revenues.  For the most part, all the other provisions are very, very similar with little difference.  But the other four are different, and they have differing device fee amounts that they have.  They don’t have the fixed fee because we didn’t negotiate the setup towards the securitization towards the bond, even though they have the provisions in there to do that we did not….that wasn’t a key component as the first five were.  I mean, we can go through each of them and I can try to pull it out, but there are differences between the five and the later four.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But the primary difference is the bond aspect—correct?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well they all have bonding capabilities, but the flat fixed fee, yes.  It’s a set aside for transportation.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just some broader questions, maybe from the Administration’s perspective.  The tribes that are, you’ve mentioned we have hard numbers for, the people that sign the pacts, from the Administration point of view, why are they willing to share revenue with the state?  What’s the reason for that?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  As we saw in the ’99 compacts, there were set limits on the number of gaming machines.  We removed some of those limits and allowed them to expand their facilities.  And in exchange, then they were willing to renegotiate and set up differing fees.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then maybe the reverse, and why are some unwilling to share revenue with the state?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well, I really can’t speculate as to why some would not.  I mean, I guess that’s their decision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You have a perspective, you’re on one side of the table—right?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  You know, I really think, though, each tribe has an individual decision to make based on their economics, based on what they think they can do.  To the extent that they want to come to the table and change that, I think that’s where you see them coming to the table and making changes.  But really, it comes down to them coming to us because they have compacts that are in effect.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So from what, at least, I understand from what you just said, there’s nothing that you’re putting forward that makes them unwilling to do a compact, it’s purely their decision?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  I think it’s evident that we’ve negotiated nine compacts with the tribes.  Those being renegotiated compacts in there.  So obviously there’s some tribes that for them it makes sense and they’re meeting with us and working with us, and for others maybe it just doesn’t make sense for them or for whatever reasons, they chose not to.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  On the estimates, and I don’t know if it’s more Finance or your question, that the draw on each machine is that consistent with some industry wide standards, or is that expert assessment?  How did we get to that particular number?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  It’s my understanding in terms of building in the assumption that they did, there were contacts made with the gaming consultants that have the numbers, along with our own information that we had, and then assumptions were made based on those figures.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what General Fund payments thus far have the tribes made to date of those signed?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  The exact numbers I guess Finance can talk to you specifically in terms of exact numbers, and I know they have them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I’ll probably ask Finance also about the bonds so we can get a clear indication of that.  

Members, do you have questions for Mr. Hernandez?  

Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

Okay, let’s go to the Department of Finance and let’s just pick up where I left off—in terms of the estimates, where are we, bond and also, General Fund?

JIM TILTON:  Sure.  Jim Tilton, the Department of Finance.  Let me clarify.  And it’s been mentioned a couple of times, but I want to reinforce it.  The number we had last year in part of the budget was based on discussions with people negotiating and there wasn’t a lot of data that we had in terms of assumptions of the number of machines, etc.  We’ve taken a very specific tact this year to develop an estimate that’s based on known compacts, so we think we’ve got a conservative number.  We estimate 1634, based on the compacts in front of us, with assessments of what we thought a conservative estimate of increased expansion of those gaming activities.  And in fact, the revenues that have come in for the first two quarters are very close to those assumptions; slightly higher.  So we took a very specific tact to not forecast revenue based on future compacts.  As has been mentioned here, in the last hearing the Lytton compact is not in these numbers, so it’s a very significant one that I assume was being used by folks coming up with the $300 million.  
For the first two quarters we got $1.5 million—this is the General Fund contribution, not the bond part.  We got $1.5 million for the first quarter, which is a pro-ration of the increased activities.  We got roughly $5.5 million in the second quarter.  And so if you carry that forward for the rest of the year, I think the Legislative Analyst number about $18 million on those existing compacts is probably the number we’d adjust as we get to the May revise.  So we took a conservative approach in terms of facts coming in are consistent with those estimates that were done in November/December.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So in terms of what the state is going to bring in or accrue, everything seems to be right on point?

MR. TILTON:  Right.  And because we base assumptions, we shared those assumptions with the Legislative Analyst in terms of, we have, in essence, now a methodology to track assumptions and then as real experience comes in, we can modify those assumptions versus saying, here’s a number based on things that were hard to quantify.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And again, that methodology is based on those signed, nothing more?

MR. TILTON:  Right.  Only signed compacts.  We’ve done assessment on increased machines, and based on that track record of activation of the machines, we’ve created the revenue numbers based on the features of the compact.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of an internal or external check on the Department of Finance, these forecasts, I mean, how does that work?  How are you guys looking at that?

MR. TILTON:  Well it’s been mentioned here, one of the other issues we talked about last fall is the need to increase the resources for the Gaming Commission.  We expect them to audit the activities of the gaming tribes and make sure that the facts we’re getting in fact are actual.  We believe so far, the information we’re getting on these revenues has been consistent.  There isn’t an attempt to not be straightforward from the tribes, but we also think it’s appropriate to build in resources, which as the BCP mentioned, to activate resources of the Gaming Commission.
One issue that I know the Legislative Analyst dodged a little bit, and we had trouble with that BCP ourselves, is, as you start a new activity, what is the workload that is required?  So that BCP made certain assumptions about workload, but made the positions limited terms so that we can track the workload as we go and reassess the resources needed by the Gaming Commission based on workload.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And maybe just going future from even this year’s budget:  You know, is this going to be the methodology going forward as we start to look at future compacts that are signed and therefore our estimates, as Mr. Hernandez mentioned, will increase?  How do you plan to take account things like Lytton or some of the other compacts?

MR. TILTON:  The current direction I have by the new director of Finance is very clear to me at this point, is make sure that you develop investments that are conservative and not based on a lot of future decisions, so our methodology right now is based on when the compacts are signed we will do an assessment of clear assumption about whatever the features are in terms of driving revenues, explain those to people and so we can all track the actual experiences based on those assumptions.  We plan on taking the same methodology and building it as the compacts expand.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And maybe the governor’s office or Finance, have we ever estimated if 20 of these pacts were signed, what the ultimate revenue would be to the state of California?
MR. HERNANDEZ:  Yes, it’s $300 million.  I mean I think if we had all those things now, that number may shift a little bit because the 25 percent, again, was part of the assumption, so that may shift down a little bit, but yes.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So I guess my question is, it’s $300 million—right, if 20 were signed, and then five were—correct?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well, let me actually go back.  It’s $300 million, that was the number that was done at the May revise point.  I think that our initial number in January was where all of my assumptions were made at 25 percent and then they were revised down as we started getting into negotiation and realizing some of those assumptions weren’t reflective of reality.  So then it was, okay, let’s adjust the number down a little bit at May revise, and that number got adjusted a little bit.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the assumptions that got adjusted down were based on what, people unwilling to sign a compact?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  The information in terms out of those 20 plus tribes, who were we really working with?  And then also the number of 25 percent probably got adjusted down because some of that money would go towards other funds—the net win would, like local government, mitigation, and other things where that money came out of.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so then….I’m sorry to keep harping on this point, but I’m just trying to make sure I understand it.  So then what we really have then is about $16- , $18 million—right?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  In current, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And there’s $280 million that at one point in time was on the table that is now off the table—right?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well, I don’t want to say it’s necessarily on the table...if everything worked out, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It had to be on the table if your estimate was almost $300 million.  You just said it yourself.

MR. HERNANDEZ:  No, no.  But what I’m saying though is that, yes, if all those assumptions came true, yes. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And, again, from the perspective of trying to garner that additional $280 million, what efforts are we making in order to, in essence see if that is still an achievable goal?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  You still have, like I said before, Lytton in front of you that will add to that number.  You also have other compacts that we’re negotiating on currently that will add to that number, assuming that some of those happen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what were your thoughts of the LAO giving the committee a suggestion that you folks do that in earnest earlier rather than later so that we have opportunity to understand, prior to the last couple of days of session, what it is we ultimately say yes or no to?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  I think we would all like to see things earlier than later.  But as you know in a negotiation, you don’t control both sides of the negotiation.  With saying that, of course, we would love to get you the numbers before hand, but it’s when they come down is when they come down—when a negotiation can be reached.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and negotiations are two-sided, so are you making proactive efforts to make sure they were happening earlier rather than later, or is it just simply whenever a tribe wants to come down, then we’ll start?  Who’s got the onus here?  I mean, I know it’s negotiations, but somebody has got an onus to, in essence, get numbers to the Legislature earlier.  So, how does that work?

MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well, still again, the economics of whether it works for a tribe in working with us, the 20 some plus that talked to us early on, obviously we’re in negotiations with them.  Currently it’s still being done.  I don’t know the exact level of if we’re going to see a new one tomorrow or not, but you have one already before you—the Lytton tribe.  So, to the extent that we continue on, then, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And there were five tribes that looked at the conditions and said that was okay to sign and do these pacts and there were the other $280 million worth of assumptions that said we can’t, and so how do we, again, I mean, is anything going to change from what was left on the table so that we can try to realize the $280 million?  What’s going to change?  Are we just going to sit here until next year and talk about more than $280 million, possibly in terms of ramp up?
MR. HERNANDEZ:  Well, it just depends, again, on the negotiations and how they work for us, and then what happens will come down.  But we are working hard on it.  We’re definitely trying to provide, obviously, an opportunity for the Indian tribes, as well as an opportunity for the state. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so right now at this point in time, February 2nd, how many folks are really at the table talking then, given that?  I mean, really not we’re waiting for them to come down; I mean, really sitting down, beyond Lytton, which is before us, but I mean…

MR. HERNANDEZ:  I actually don’t have that number.  I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. HERNANDEZ:  I can get that number if that would be helpful.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  That would be good.  Members, do you have any questions for the Department of Finance?  Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Tilton, thanks very much for your letter regarding the audits that you’ve sent along.  I appreciate that.  Perhaps this is a question that could also be answered by the Gaming Control people, but how many dollars is the Gaming Control folks looking for and how much is the Department of Finance recommending in terms of just budget dollars?
MR. TILTON:  You’d have to ask them.  I believe we fairly responded to the request in the budget for almost $5 million for the six positions, I think it is a number we came to an agreement on with the understanding that we would track it as the workload developed.

SENATOR COX:  So the Department of Finance has agreed on about 
$5 million roughly?

MR. TILTON:  Yes.  That’s an augmentation to their existing budget.
SENATOR COX:  And which gives them an additional 40 people?

MR. TILTON:  Right.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  And does the Department of Finance have a model for adding additional people.  Because if you’re telling me today that the Department of Finance is going to add 40 auditors and you don’t know whether or not you’re going to get any, or maybe you do.  Do you know whether you’re going to get any additional money because of the audits?

MR. TILTON:  Well, I think twofold.  One is, the audits are to make sure there is compliance with the compacts.  We believe that those resources will provide the ability for the state to have a clear understanding of the operation of the Gaming Commission.  My point was that…


SENATOR COX:  And do you believe there will be any additional revenue generated because of the audits?

MR. TILTON:  Well, only to the extent we find that the gaming tribes are not being straightforward with how many machines they’re operating.


SENATOR COX:  And you have no reason to believe that now, or do you have reason to believe…


MR. TILTON:  We do not have reason to believe that now, but we believe there is proper oversight.  As we get into that, to remind you of the workload issues, is we get into audits normally you do samples or the number of audits you do are based on what you find.  That’s why we said, we’ll give you additional resources.  Let’s track the experiences.  If we find, in most audit situations, if you find that there aren’t extreme examples of problems, then you’d move back and do samples.  So if you find problems, then you have to go in more aggressively.  So that’s the status right now.


SENATOR COX:  How many casinos are you auditing in terms of number?  One, two, three, four, five, six—how many are out there that you’re, in fact, auditing?


MR. TILTON:  I don’t have all the numbers in front of me.  I believe the Gaming Commission can respond to those questions.


SENATOR COX:  Oh, okay.  We’ll wait for them.  Thank you very much.  
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Members, any other questions?  

Let’s turn to the bonds, if we could for a moment.  Mr. Klass, in terms of preparing these tribal gaming bonds for sale, what is the Department of Finance doing in terms of getting ready for that?

FRED KLASS:  The Department has assembled the financing team in partnership with the treasurer’s office.  We have bond counsel, disclosure counsel, underwriters, financial advisers, who are all working, and in some parts, with the tribes to get the bonds ready to go to market.  It’s a very unusual sale.  It’s really an unprecedented situation of having five different revenue streams backing a bond, so there’s no real precedent or model for this, which is taking a little bit longer than it might with something that was more typical in the market.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And it’s taking a little bit longer not because of the lawsuit, but because of just the structure of the bond itself?
MR. KLASS:  It’s a combination of both.  The lawsuit has delayed it in part, as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the problems, can you kind of tell us a little bit about some of the structuring issues that are problematic?

MR. KLASS:  Sure.  As I mentioned, five revenue streams.  The bond market really abhors uncertainty and risk.  And they have no experience with a bond like this, and not a lot of experience with gaming bonds in general, throughout the country.  It’s very limited.  So as I mentioned, there’s no real model to go from, and we’re exploring with potential rating agencies and underwriters and insurers what exactly they would expect to see in a bond deal and how it would be structured, which requires a lot more investigation and discussion.

The tribes have included in the compact the limitation on the disclosure of their financial information, so it won’t be a public offering.  This was understood from the beginning.  It will be a private placement offering.  Private placements always require a bit more due diligence and work in terms of finding potential investors and working on that side of it.  So there’s just a lot of features that go into any bond sale and this one has a few extra.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  But this is an unprecedented revenue bond—correct?

MR. KLASS:  It’s unprecedented…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s the duration of the bond?

MR. KLASS:  It will probably be an 18-year bond.  That certainly is what’s contemplated in the compact, but it’s not an absolute requirement.  There is flexibility in the compact to structure it to a different term.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the additional things that….you mentioned five different revenue streams, is that correct?

MR. KLASS:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And there were compacts signed based on items outside of that revenue stream—environmental, labor agreements, those types of things.  Is this going to be part of the prospectus?  Is that something that investors look at, care about, examine, or is this something that, in essence, wouldn’t matter to the investor?  All that matters is the cash flow.  And does the Administration view those particular items in the compacts that were signed as part and parcel of the cash flow coming?

MR. KLASS:  We do not view it as part and parcel to the cash flow coming in.  The compact clearly calls for a specified flat dollar amount from each tribe.  And it’s our view that short of something catastrophic happening to a tribe and going out of business, that the revenue stream for this particular piece should be well within their capacity to do.  The investors—you asked, what will the investors look at?  Investors always want to know what the certainty of the revenue stream is.  We believe that once we have finished all of our due diligence and work and presented this situation to investors, they will be very comfortable too.  That this is a very certain revenue stream, and that these are desirable bonds to hold.

SENATOR FLOREZ: Okay.  And investors are obviously going to be looking at the external and internal events or conditions that could change that.  Are you taking that into account as well?

MR. KLASS:  We are doing what we call stress tests with the bonds which determine in part how much we can generate in the way of proceeds.  So we take a look at various scenarios and models of, you know, what happens if one of the tribe’s revenue stream is interrupted for a year or two years; and what does that do to our ability to sell a bond; and at what level?  And is this typical pretty much of any bond deal run these kinds of stress tests.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And just so we’re clear.  You mentioned the uncertainty and the safety of the investor looking at these particular cash flows based on these particular compacts—correct?  And I guess I’m wondering, these are revenue bonds that are privately placed, pretty expensive as compared to maybe a GO type of issuance where ultimately if things go wrong, the secondary source is the General Fund.  Is that a consideration; not a consideration; and if so, why not?
MR. KLASS:  Well, it will effect the price of the bonds.  There’s not much in the world that’s cheaper to do than a GO bond backed by the state of California.  So virtually any other bond in comparison is relatively expensive.  The question is, at what level and what’s practical?  We feel that once we can lay out the full situation of gaming in California and the strength of these tribes, that it won’t be difficult to find private placements for it, but we’re not at that point yet, and so it’s yet to be seen.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And would a question from an investor be, if they are so safe and so secure, as you have mentioned, why wouldn’t the state back it with the General Fund as a GO?

MR. KLASS:  Well, investors, particularly in the bond market, are always looking for as much certainty as they can find.  So they would always like to have the General Fund allocation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But what would be your position be in that particular case?

MR. KLASS:  We would not want to do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the reason for that?  

MR. KLASS:  It was never contemplated that these compact revenues would be backed by the General Fund.  I think we’re in a position of not wanting to mix General Fund into this particular equation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s fair enough.  In terms of an alternative plan, if indeed you mentioned a little bit lengthier process now.  I think LAO said we’re putting these off for another budgetary cycle.  Money is amassing I assume at that point in time?  Is that like in a sinking fund that therefore goes to the bond when we’re ready to do it, or are these dollars that we can start spending now and therefore restructure the bond at another time, 18 years going forward next year?  How do you kind of plan to deal with the surplus, if you will, until we issue the bonds?

MR. KLASS:  The compact is written with the flexibility for us to take any of those paths.  Currently we have the first quarter’s payment which is $25.2 million sitting in an account and earning interest which would accrue to the benefit of the fund and ultimately to transportation projects.
At this point, we’re looking to hold onto it for a relatively short period of time until our situation is clear with the bond structure to figure out whether or not we need this for the bond structure.  I mean, if I gave you my initial reaction, it would be that we probably wouldn’t.  Generally you don’t securitize money that you have in hand, so my anticipation would be that this particular chunk of first quarter revenues will be available for transportation projects, but I’m not here today to tell you that with certainty, but I think that’s where it’s going to go.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and those would be for transportation projects that are up and ready to go?
MR. KLASS:  Correct.  All of the revenues from this provision of the compact are for transportation projects.  We cannot spend them for any other purpose until the outstanding loans are repaid.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I know that the complexity that you have mentioned, I appreciate it, but what can one expect from the timeframe of getting these things structured in a way that we could go out to market?  What are your expectations?

MR. KLASS:  Well, we’re working to do it as quickly as we can and be poised to go when the lawsuits are disposed of.  At this point I am loathe to give you a specific date because there is so much uncertainty.  But I think that by the end of this fiscal year we’re going to certainly be poised to do it, and I’m hoping that by this spring we’ll be in a position and just be waiting for the disposition of the lawsuit.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So it’s months or somewhere near the end of the year?

MR. KLASS:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Members, do you have any other questions?  Just one more, in terms of the structure of the bond, any other states done this?

MR. KLASS:  I’m having to call on my memory here.  I believe, and I’m sorry, I’ll have to get back to you.  There was one state.  We did look at this, and there was one state that had something that was fairly similar, though it was one tribe, one revenue stream and there was another state that had something generally like it, and I’ll have to get back to you with the details.  There isn’t a lot of experience in this area and certainly nothing exactly like what…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And was it successful?

MR. KLASS:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Gentlemen, thank you.

SENATOR DENHAM:  I actually have a final question on that point.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Didn’t Connecticut do a very large bond on that very same issue and that was challenged?  They did win, and this is the precedence behind this?

MR. KLASS:  That’s my recollection, that Connecticut was the state. And I think it was Ohio or Wisconsin, there’s one in that region that also did something like it, but I have to check to be sure.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  At the end of the bond, 18 years, what happens to the cash flow?
MR. KLASS:  The amount of it is recalculated to be the lesser of either the flat dollar amount that’s in the compacts now, or ten percent of the net win on the machines that existed in the 1999 compact.  I think general expectations are that it will be comparable to the amount that’s in the compacts now.  And that revenue stream would continue to come in for the remainder of the compact period, which would be 20/30 and it would continue to go to transportation until all the loans are repaid.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Until all the loans are repaid, and that would be the three that the LAO had mentioned, or is this just the one?

MR. KLASS:  No, the three.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  Can we get Eugene Balonon, Executive Director of California Gaming Control Commission.  Thanks for joining us.
EUGENE BALONON:  Thank you.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe, I don’t know if you have a statement or…

MR. BALONON:  No, I don’t.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just for me, probably more than anyone, the history of the Gaming Control Commission—it’s responsibilities; your role?

MR. BALONON:  The basic responsibility of the commission is to implement and have oversight over the compacts, and now we have different compacts in place—99 compacts that were compacts in 2003, and now we have amended and new compacts in 2004.  But the other side of it is, that the commission is also responsible for oversight and regulatory responsibility for card rooms in California and prop player companies in California were also responsible for, in essence, monitoring gambling equipment, manufacturers.  They file reports with the commission, and we have responsibility for tracking those.  Basically almost everyone that’s involved in gambling in California other than horseracing and the Lottery, I would say, that this is a sort of a joint partnership.  And we have a relationship with the Division of Gambling Control and so they have some responsibility in this area too.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And maybe we’ve been kicking around this topic of current year augmentations of your budget from, I guess, $2.2 million to, what, additional $4.8?  And what is it you’re seeking per budget cycle?

MR. BALONON:  For the next cycle, the request that we had put in with Finance was for an augmentation of $4.6 million from the Special Distribution Fund.  We also put in a request for some funding out of the Gambling Control Fund, which relates to the card rooms.  And that equates to about 45, approximately, positions that we requested. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would take you from?

MR. BALONON:  We’re at about 47 right now, positions at the commission.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s a doubling?

MR. BALONON:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You mentioned the card clubs, is that more oversight over card clubs, or is it because of the new responsibilities given to compacts?

MR. BALONON:  It’s related to the new and amended compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How much of your work is somewhat, if you will, double, or duplicative, of the attorney general’s office?  I mean, what is it you do and they do?  I mean, how much overlap is there?

MR. BALONON:  There is some overlap in the sense that what they do primarily is they do investigations and backgrounding.  They make recommendations to the commission, so if there’s, if you want to call it overlap, their recommendations come to our commission.  Our commission then reviews those recommendations, and then ultimately it’s the commission that makes the decision concerning those recommendations.  And a lot of their background is in the area of tribal gaming.  It relates to the backgrounding of tribal key employees.  It also relates to vendors, like resource suppliers to the tribes, financial sources to the tribes that may have some financial relationship with the tribes, or are trying to and they’re going to be licensed by tribes and there’s an oversight responsibility for the state over those types of activities.  And it’s the division that actually handles that front end work as far as the investigation and review, and then that’s presented to the commission for a decision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of the slot machines operational today in California, how many are there?  
MR. BALONON:  The number that Liz Hill gave you is about right.  I think she said somewhere in the neighborhood of 50,000; in that ballpark.  That’s accurate.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how does that relate to the FTE you’re requesting, going forward?  Is it based on the compacts themselves and the growth, or?

MR. BALONON:  It’s in part because the new and amended compacts allow for growth in the way of adding additional gaming devices, so that’s part of the responsibility.  If you look at the compacts in 2004, and they’re all different in this sense.  As far as our responsibility is concerned, we have to audit not only for additional gaming devices, but there’s different, I guess, measurements as far as how much a tribe contributes. In one case it might be based on the number of tribal members, and in another case it’s based on their net win.  In the Lytton compact it actually is based on net win from even on the non-gaming device side.  It includes their card room, or card games, so it’s sort of the entire gaming establishment.  So they’re all different.  But just addressing what we asked for in our budget change proposal it relates to just the new and amended compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the LAO mentioned they were going to be doing the analysis in terms of where they come out in it.  But again, from your perspective, backlog or expansion, or both, in terms of the justification?

MR. BALONON:  Ours is just based on these new responsibilities.  I mean, is there a backlog at the commission?  Yes, there is a backlog at the commission.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Members, any other questions?  Yes, Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Sure.  Let me just ask the gentleman—I’m not certain, are you asking for $4.2 million more than you have now, or are you asking that your budget be brought up to $4.2?

MR. BALONON:  No, it would be an additional $4.6.

SENATOR COX:  So you’re currently somewhere in the neighborhood of $2.5 million and you want to go to $6- or $7 million?

MR. BALONON:  Our current budget from this Special Distribution Fund is at $3.8.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  How many people do you actually have doing audits?
MR. BALONON:  Right now in the commission there are about seven people that do audits.

SENATOR COX:  And you said you had 47 employees and you have only seven doing audits.  And how many of the new employees will be doing audits?

MR. BALONON:  As far as the audits function the BCP requests an additional 15 people.

SENATOR COX:  So that takes you to 22.  How do you ever catch up?

MR. BALONON:  You have to work hard.

SENATOR COX:  You’ve got more than three-quarters of your staff doing something besides auditing.

MR. BALONON:  Well, there’s other functions.  We have licensing issues that our auditors don’t do.  It’s just not audits that’s done at the commission; there’s a licensing function; there’s a legal office, because we have a regulatory responsibility too.  So people are involved in different functions other than just auditing, actually.  We’re not just auditing the tribes.  That’s not the pure function of the commission.

SENATOR COX:  Looks like you’re a bureaucracy on the move, however.  I appreciate the fact you don’t want to comment on it.  That’s alright.  It’s not a problem with me.
Do you have a model as new compacts are signed, and as new casinos are opened, do you have a model as to what the staffing requirements are going to be?

MR. BALONON:  I wouldn’t say that we have a model.  I think that until we see what the new compacts look like, if they’re dramatically different, it might have some affect on what we need, but it’s just hard to comment right now until we see what those look like.

SENATOR COX:  Well does the model the agency then, is that three-quarters of your personnel will be doing something other than auditing?  As you go forward, is that the model of how you’re running the commission?

MR. BALONON:  Well, like I said, we have other functions that are not just auditing functions that are mandated by not just the compacts, but by the Gambling Control Act, by the Business and Professions Codes.  So we have other functions that we have to address.

SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just a couple more—in terms of some definitional issues, what is the gaming testing laboratory and a field testing program?  Because I noticed that was in your request.  What is the difference there?

MR. BALONON:  The field testers are probably more like technicians, whereas the gaming testing labs are more in the vein of an engineer.  And they would be testing the gaming devices themselves, and the field testers are just testing chips, and just making sure that the device is operating as it should be based upon what, say, the lab indicates that it should.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And maybe going along Senator Cox’s question in terms of bureaucracy.  Is there technology out there that would allow for a, if you will, direct auditing of slots that is based on technology not people?  And if so, would that reduce the going forward need for auditors?  I’m sure technology is out there that does something like that.

MR. BALONON:  There is, actually.  It’s something that we actually looked at.  I think it was this week that we looked at something like that, where there’s basically, a software program that would allow us to do something along that line, and it’s something that was installed in Wisconsin, I think is the correct state. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What does it do, so we can understand it?

MR. BALONON:  It’s an accounting or auditing software program.  The difference between Wisconsin and California is, that in Wisconsin that’s a mandatory program that that commission could require of their casinos there.  And I don’t know, if we as a commission here in California, have the authority to tell the tribes that you’re going to take our software and we’re going to be involved in looking at your financials on a daily basis.  Because that software has the ability to get a report everyday.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of the, if you will, state testing lab, what is that, and how does it function, again, so that I can understand that?

MR. BALONON:  The compacts require, and it doesn’t have to be a state testing lab, but it requires a certification and testing of these gaming devices before they’re placed out on the floor for play.  And the lab would be able to serve that function.  The commission…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s before they are out on the floor.

MR. BALONON:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you mentioned earlier that there’s a backlog—right?  So does that backlog prevent more of those being able to be placed on the floor, so therefore, we don’t need our revenue projections?


MR. BALONON:  It’s just totally separate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So how would this work, this state….I mentioned, state, but how would you view that?


MR. BALONON:  The lab?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The lab.


MR. BALONON:  The lab is a totally separate function.  All that ensures is the integrity of the device, that it’s operating to the manufacturer’s specifications.  It’s different from auditors.  I mean the auditors they won’t have that technical knowledge to do that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you’re asking for how many in this budget—13?


MR. BALONON:  Auditors—15.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. BALONON:  I should qualify that by saying, it’s for the audit unit.  There’s going to be some staff support related to that too.  There won’t all be auditors per se.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So when it says, “Request 13 testing lab and field testing staff.”


MR. BALONON:  Okay, that’s a different function then.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would relate, again, to?


MR. BALONON:  To a lab and the field testing, which is actually required by the compact—the new and amended compacts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any other questions, members?


SENATOR DENHAM:  One last question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


SENATOR DENHAM:  You requested an extra $165,000 for bond counsel coming from the Special Distribution Fund.  I’ve got it in here that is going to be used for a bond counsel on the pending lawsuit.  Do you care to comment on that?


MR. BALONON:  I would actually defer to Finance in response to that.


MR. KLASS:  Senator, typically when we put together a bond deal, the underwriters and bond counselors who work on it, work on a contingent basis, and they are paid after the bonds are sold, and their funding comes out of the distribution of bonds proceeds. 


In this particular case, we had to start early on these bonds and there were a number of ballot measures that were casting some doubt on whether or not the compacts would be going forward at all.  In this particular instance, we could not get bond counsel who was willing to go on a contingent basis subject to the ballot measures being out there, so we entered into a contract to pay them to work on the issue until such time as the election was over and resolved.  They are now working on a contingent basis going forward.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Why would they want to work on a contingent basis going forward if we’re still a year….I mean, were we not a year out when we made the assumption last time, and now aren’t we another year out?  I mean, what’s the difference?


MR. KLASS:  Well, I can’t speak for them, but what they were feeling at the time is they conveyed to us was, that it’s one thing to risk the deal itself, which they have some understanding of, that it was another thing to put the risk of their firm’s efforts on the basis of an initiative on the ballot.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So they basically, we’re paying them for the work that they…


MR. KLASS:  We were prior to last November.  We are not now.  It’s all on a contingent basis at this point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


SENATOR DENHAM:  The attorney general is representing the state on this bond issue—correct?


MR. KLASS:  Yes.


SENATOR DENHAM:  So what is the need for additional counsel?


MR. KLASS:  Additional counsel—in order for us to hire any additional counsel, the attorney general has to approve it.  And the attorney general doesn’t have expertise in every area.  They clearly are responsible for certain aspects of the bond deal and we take our lead advice from them.  However, there are experts in bond issues and we hire outside counsel for that.  It’s typical.  I think we do that on almost every bond issue.  And in this particular case we have disclosure counsel, as well, because of the provisions in the compact requiring confidentiality of tribal financials.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any other questions, members?  Gentlemen, thank you.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Forgive me on this one.  I’m just unsure of what the Department of Finance…why does the Department of Finance need legal counsel in this?  Are you hiring legal counsel to recommend to the attorney general’s office what the position should be?


MR. KLASS:  No, it’s actually part of a bond financing team.  A typical structure of a team includes the attorney general…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Why would the attorney general hire counsel?  I mean, that’s what my question is.


MR. KLASS:  It’s a question of expertise.  They, I believe, I hate to speak for them, but I am pretty certain that they would not want to engage in an entire bond deal without the advice and benefit of outside bond counsel who specialize in this area.


SENATOR DENHAM:  I guess I don’t disagree, but if I’m the attorney general, I think I would want to hire all of my own people and go out and find my own experts.  And I guess I’m unsure why the Department of Finance would be doing that for them.


MR. KLASS:  Well, it’s actually part of the bond team that does it.  It was Finance prior to the election, but now it’s going to be part of the Golden State Transportation Corporation which was set up as a part of the compacts and that’s going to be the actual issuer of the bonds.  The attorney general looks at our request and signs off on who will be bond counsel, so it’s not something that’s imposed upon them; it’s something that they agree with.

SENATOR DENHAM:  So is this counsel specifically on the legality of the bond itself, or is this counsel giving advice to the attorney general and his staff specifically on the Craig v. Schwarzenegger lawsuit?


MR. KLASS:  It is not on the Craig v. Schwarzenegger lawsuit.  


SENATOR DENHAM:  So it’s on the bond?


MR. KLASS:  It’s on the bond.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Gentlemen, thank you.  Mr. Treasurer, thank you for joining us.


PHIL ANGELIDES, STATE TREASURER:  Hello.  It’s nice to be with you.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Treasurer, I have questions, or do you have a statement?  We can proceed anyway you’d like.


MR ANGELIDES:  Why don’t I just give just a few overall comments to start, and then let you fire with your questions.  And just to let you know, time wise I probably have to be out of here in about 20 minutes or so, but then I’ve got my very able staff with me.  Arguably, my more able staff than me.  On my left is Deputy Treasurer Carrie Cornwell, recently a senate staffer, and Juan Fernandez on my right, is the director of our public finance division in charge of all the debt issuance in our office.

Let me give a quick overview of where we stand right now on the tribal gaming bonds.  
As you know, when Assembly Bill 687 was passed by this Legislature.  It ratified amended compacts with five tribes, and those amended compacts called for two payments.  One was a payment for additional gaming devices, the other was a second payment consisting of fixed payments which were projected to total approximately $100 million annually for the next 18 years.  Then an amount equal to the lesser of the original payment, or 10 percent, of the tribe’s net win until 2030.  It is the second payment, essentially, that is the repayment source for the tribal gaming bonds.


Now under AB 687, the role of our office is to be the agent of sale, as we are with all state bond issues.  And in terms of getting ready for this sale, as you know, the Infrastructure Bank, essentially, is the lead entity, and they’re the entity that has appointed bond counsel.  They will have to offer and issue the opinions on these bonds.  They have a point of disclosure counsel and their financial advisor.  We appointed, very shortly after the passage of the measure, the underwriting team and our own financial advisor to help us to construct the structure of these bonds.  


As you know, the governor’s budget assumed that these bonds would yield approximately $1.2 billion in revenues, and that that money would then repay transportation accounts so that transportation projects in this state could be funded.


One of the things I’d like to say up front, while I think it’s no secret that I have opposed the continued borrowing that’s occurred at the state level, while I do not believe the right way to solve our budget problems is to borrow today against long-term revenues to fill holes today, having said that, we take our job very seriously as professionals.  And if, in fact, a bond issue is enacted by the Legislature and the governor, or in the case of the economic recovery bonds enacted by the people, we see it as our duty to expeditiously move forward, get the bond sale done and get it done at the best price for the taxpayers of the state of California.  And in that light, when the economic recovery bonds were approved by the voters in March, while I opposed that $15 million bond issue proposed by the governor and put on the ballot by the Legislature, we, I believe, within about eight weeks have brought those to market and we have done very well in terms of structuring those so that we would get a good deal for the taxpayers.


In terms of these bonds, they’re unique in this sense:  As you know, the compacts restricted the parties with whom the tribes would share their financial information and their operational information.  And then through subsequent legislation, this Legislature and the governor provided that the requisite financial information could be provided to state government officials and not be subject to the Public Records Act.  And that was important because to be able to move forward on this bond issue, we need to have in our office as the agent of sale, as does the Infrastructure Bank, the basic financial information that will allow us to negotiate with the banks or other folks who are involved in this transaction.  But as of this date…

By the way, just to let you know, we have received, the state has received, signed confidentiality agreements with four of the five tribes.  We do not yet have agreements from the Pala tribe and that information from all five tribes is an absolute necessity for us to move forward on these bonds.


Let me just talk for a minute about, you know, in a normal bond sale when we’re doing a general obligation or a lease revenue bond, what we do is, we got to the marketplace (as you know, because you were in investment banking for a number of years), what we would do is, we would produce an official statement which discloses to the public marketplace, significant information about the bond sales.  The security for the repayment of the bonds; the structures of the bonds, any legal issues, all the financial information that would back up the repayment of the bonds.  But because of the legislation and the tribes desire to limit access to financial information, there’s really only two structures that can be utilized for this bond sale.  
One is, that you would do what’s called a private placement.  We would issue the bonds to a very small selected group of institutional buyers—one or two or three, a selected number of buyers.  Essentially those buyers would be given the information on a confidential basis about the financial information about the tribes and the revenues to back up the bonds.  

It is our judgment in our office that that will not work feasibly to sell a billion dollars on a private placement.  We don’t believe it can be done, and we don’t believe, certainly, that it can be done at rates that make sense for the taxpayers of California.


The other way to structure the bond is, essentially, to have it fully guaranteed by bank letters of credit or by bond insurance.  Which essentially means, that the tribes, as they are willing to do, would share their financial information with banks or insurance companies who in turn would look at that information; would fully back the bonds for a payment from the state; and then when the bonds are sold in the public marketplace, the buyers in the marketplace would not have access to the financial information of the tribes, but would be buying them, essentially, on the guaranteed issued by the banks and buy the insurance companies.  So they’d really be buying the bonds based on the financial statements of the banks and the insurance companies.  
The reason it was critical that we, and still is critical, that we in the treasurer’s office and the Infrastructure Bank, get the financial information from the tribes is, we will be the ones negotiating the fees that the banks and the insurance companies will charge us to guarantee these bonds.  And clearly, we can’t be in negotiation where they have the information and say, based on our looking at the information we want X dollars from you.  We need the same information to say, well, no, no, no, bank, we believe that we only ought to be paying you Y.  
So the way these bonds will be structured is, they will be structured with credit enhancement from the banks and insurance companies.  They will be sold in a public marketplace, but they will be essentially sold in a way where the buyers will be relying on the credit of the guaranteeing institutions. 


Now, based on at least some preliminary analysis and coverage assumptions by our investment bankers and our finance division, and based on 18 years of fixed payments of $100 million annually, we believe that the net proceeds at the end of the day, and we can share information with this committee, I believe, that gives some basic back into this.  We believe the proceeds are going to be more like in the $800- and $900 million range, not in the $1.2 billion range that the Administration assumed in the budget.

Now, what does it take to get these to sale?  As I said, we moved quickly to appoint the underwriting team.  We have already developed along with the underwriters and with the Infrastructure Bank, this credit structure for these bonds, but we’re really at a stopping point now where we can’t move forward.


Number one is, we do need the fifth set of confidentiality agreements at which point we’ll be in position to get all the tribal financial information.  And we have every reason to expect that that will be resolved.  And I don’t know—what timeframe Mr. Fernandez?

JUAN FERNANDEZ:  Within the next few weeks.


MR. ANGELIDES:  In the next few weeks.  So I don’t see that as insurmountable.  We should get the information.  The tribes have cooperated.  We had to spend some time working out who would have access to this information in the various governmental departments.


The second issue, really, is the litigation which has been filed.  And the bottom line here is, you know there has been litigation filed, but these bonds will not be able to go to market unless bond counsel, which is the bond counsel appointed by the Infrastructure Bank, is able to issue unqualified opinions to the marketplace that these are legal instruments.  Then in essence, and I’m not a lawyer, but this is, I believe the term of art, that the litigation is of no merit and that therefore folks in the market can buy these bonds with confidence that they’re buying a legal instrument on which they will get repaid.  That bond counsel opinion is also a threshold of getting credit agency ratings for these bonds.  
So as of this point, we cannot give you a schedule for the bond issuance because what will be required before we as agents of sales can move forward at this point, what will be required is, that either the bond counsel issue an unqualified opinion, or that the litigation be resolved.  And that is really in the hands of the Administration and the attorney general’s office and bond counsel.  And as of this point we are effectively on hold.  Now, there are some ripple effects of this.

One is, that as you know, this money was slated to repay transportation accounts and that there are projects that are dependent on this money.  And I don’t, as of this point, I guess I’m telling the committee, there should be no scheduled expectation of repayment unless there’s the unqualified opinions of the resolution of the litigation.


The second thing that actually is affecting another bond sale that we had intended to do in April, a $500 million what’s called “Garvey bond sale.”  In, I believe, the year 2000, the Legislature passed legislation which I sponsored which allows the state to sell Garvey bonds.  They’re grant, revenue, anticipation notes which allow the state to sell bonds, essentially, against future federal transportation funds to get the money now to build critical projects.  We won’t be able to sell that bond issue because those federal funds have to be matched with state funds.  And absent this money being repaid into the transportation account, we could sell the bonds, but there’s no state money to match it with.  And so this second bond issue, that $500 million bond issue, we do not expect to occur in April now until this issue is resolved.


Let’s see, that’s really my overview, and I am available for any other questions that the committee may have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just a general question.  In terms of the….we asked Finance prior to you coming to the committee, that as we start to build up in this account, you know, they’ve now put off in their mind the bond sale until late summer or next year, I think was the comments made, that money is a decision to be spent; pay as you go; or do we hold onto it until the bond is, in essence, ready?  Your thoughts on…


MR. ANGELIDES:  My view would be, you know, you’re taking a substantial discount on your proceeds when you accelerate them into this year.  It’s just a fact.  And we will pay significant cost to issue these bonds in terms of credit enhancement, just by the nature of what they are.  And given that, and given that I believe the highest objective here ought to be to get to a structurally balanced budget, my view would be that the best thing to do would be to take the revenues over time.  Now there are other ways (and of course this comes into your decision making process), there are other ways to replenish this transportation account, and I believe that needs to be done.  We could, within a matter of 8 to 10 weeks, sell $1.2 billion worth of the remaining economic recovery bonds.  We could do it at a very low rate, because as you now, those are double barrel backed bonds.  They’ve got both the General Fund and the sales tax revenue.  We could sell those cost-effectively, rapidly, make the repayment of the transportation accounts so that the General Fund could then repay the transportation account.  So the transportation issue, from my perspective, can be solved as the Legislature decides on a policy basis whether these bonds ought to go forward.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the rate differential between these privately placed bonds and trying to get to, if you will, the $1.2 billion you’ve mentioned in terms of economic bonds, can you give us a rough estimate?


MR. ANGELIDES:  I think, you know what? I don’t want to give you an off the fly cost.  We could get back to you with what we think the differential would be.  I must tell you though, it’s very hard because we haven’t even entered into negotiations with the banks and the insurance companies, and so it’s very hard right now to predict what they’re going to require to fully back these bonds.  And you know, for example, they’re going to be looking at financial information, but I think they’ll also be looking at market risk.  For example, if there is a casino, a gaming facility approved in the East Bay, what does that do, if anything, to the revenue flows that they are expecting out of some of the tribes that are a part of this compact?  And so it would be very difficult to do at this point.  I’ll see what we can do that might be meaningful.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. ANGELIDES:  But I think as a general, you can assume that the ERBs (economic recovery bonds), given that they’re general obligation backed, and that they are also backed by the sales tax, they’re about as well as we can do in the marketplace.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that gets us to, in your mind, the full 
$1.2 billion, not the $800 million.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, sure.  Because you could just sell $1.2 billion in proceeds.  You’re not going to get $1.2 billion out of this sale.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And your estimate is $800- to $900.

MR. ANGELIDES:  Eight hundred to $900 million preliminarily based on some very rough estimates, and we can share those with the committee.  They’re the best we could do given the knowledge we have at this point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just one other question, Mr. Treasurer.  In terms of the credit agencies and their view of this, the Department of Finance told us earlier this is a very unique, very few models, if you will, in the country, maybe one state that has done this, I mean, from your experience with credit rating agencies, what is it going to take; how much work is it going to take; are we going to meet this end of the year deadline if indeed we can structure it with all the work that seems to have to go into this?

MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, really the key timeline factor here is the litigation.  I mean if the litigation were to be cleared away, or if the Administration’s attorneys and the attorney general are able to issue a clean opinion on these, then we could get to market within what kind of timeframe?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Normally we can get to market in six to eight weeks.  But given the complexity of this deal, it’s difficult to speculate, but certainly longer than two months.


MR. ANGELIDES:  What do you think?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Three months.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Three to six?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Chairman, would you ask the gentleman to identify himself, please?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry.  Could you identify yourself for the record?  I apologize.


MR. FERNANADEZ:  My name is Juan Fernandez.  I’m the Director of the Public Finance Division for the treasurer’s office.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Let me talk about credit ratings for a minute.  I will say, they wouldn’t be as quick as the economic recovery bonds, but once the litigation is wiped away probably faster than the energy bonds.  But on the credit rating, here’s really the bottom line—the rating agencies are going to base their rating on the credits status of the banks and insurance companies who back these bonds.  So in the end, these might well be triple-A bonds because they’re backed by institutions with triple-A credit ratings, or they’re backed by institutions that have the financial wherewithal in the credit rating agency’s minds, to fully live up to their guarantee, therefore the risk to the bond buyer is de minimis.  And I think the issue on their own, could these get triple-B ratings?  I don’t know, but that’s not the way you’re going to sell these in the market.  They really can only be sold with that credit enhancement from banks and insurers, so the credit rating agencies will be looking to see whether that guarantee is sufficient to give them that rating.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Members, questions of the treasurer?  Senator Denham.


SENATOR DEHNAM:  Thank you.  How does this compare to other bonds that have been sold by other states?


MR. ANGELIDES:  I’m going to ask Mr. Fernandez to answer that.


MR. FERNANDEZ:  I am unaware of any other state securitizing tribal gaming in this fashion.  I know that in Connecticut there was a tribe that issued tactics and bonds on its own, but I am unaware of any state securitizing the revenues in the fashion that we’re looking at here.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Of multiple tribal governments?

MR. FERNANDEZ:  Correct.


SENATOR DENHAM:  In Connecticut there was also litigation there, as well?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  I don’t know.


SENATOR DENHAM:  You know, I think that we’re all as anxious as you are to sell these bonds.  We all have transportation projects in our districts that are being held up, and we’d like to see a clean opinion as quickly as possible, as well.  Have you talked to the attorney general yet?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, just so you know, I mean my staff has been talking often, I know, with the Infrastructure Bank and the attorney general.  But this is not, I’ll just say it, given what’s before them, but this is really in their court.  You know, when a firm issues an opinion they put the full liability of issuing that opinion against their firm.  So they don’t issue these other than when they can come to the conclusion.  Eeither A, the litigation has to be resolved, or they’re only going to issue a clean opinion, if they genuinely believe, as a matter of law, that the litigation is of no merit, and therefore, will put their firm’s name and full liability, because when they issue that opinion, they’re saying to bond buyers, you can buy these without risk of this legal action.  And as of now, the firms certainly, I think….I don’t want to speak for them.  I think you ought to ask the Infrastructure Banks, because if the Infrastructure Banks in the lead, they retain the bond counsel for the firm and the AG, essentially, then issues an opinion also.  But as of now, at least, I think it’s fair to say, they’re not ready to issue that kind of an opinion.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I think I’d agree with that, that maybe they aren’t ready yet.  But you know, as I’ve got a question for the Director of Finance, I pick up the phone and call Tom Campbell, or if I’ve got a question for the governor, I go down and see the governor.  I would think that as this is the most pressing issue that we have right now and that these monies are held up, I mean, he may not be ready to do a clean opinion today or tomorrow, but I would think that you would want to at least pick up the phone or go see him and say, is it going to be a week, or two weeks, or how many people do you have on it; how many lawyers?

MR. ANGELIDES:  Senator Denham, I can have you talk….our staff, we work constantly and collaboratively with the Department of Finance and the attorney general’s office.  This is not a political matter, it is a legal and professional matter in which our staff has dedicated substantial time and is in constant communication.  And I can tell you the answer without picking up the phone.  There is no opinion now because the litigation exists, period. 

SENATOR DENHAM:  There isn’t no opinion now…


MR. ANGELIDES:  I talk to the attorney general all the time, but frankly on this we can talk as much as we want but the litigation…


SENATOR DENHAM:  But you have not talked on this matter yet?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Directly, no, but our staffs talk all the time.  Do you want to talk about that?

SENATOR DENHAM:  I would think that as we’ve already seen in other state entering into a bond of this sort, have litigation that was out there on that same bond and that there was a clean opinion.  I would think that that would be the precedence to, at least, have us all focusing in the same area, and, at least communicating.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Okay.  Mr. Denham, we are communicating and we’re communicating all the time.  But here’s the fact—to sell these bonds we need the confidentiality agreements.  And frankly our office pushed very hard for a long time to get these, and now we have four or five.  Secondly, we are agents of sale.  The Infrastructure Bank is in the lead.  We work collaboratively as a team, as professionals, and the fact is, that either the attorney general’s office and the Administration have to resolve the litigation, or the attorneys have to issue a clean opinion.  You should ask them where they are on that.  I think they’ll tell you what we know, which is, there is no resolution in the litigation and they do not believe, at this point, that they can issue a clean opinion.  Now you can talk to them about that, about why, but that’s where it is today.

Now, let me just say one other thing to the members of the committee.  I think the Department of Finance itself told you earlier today that they are seeing a timeline that’s very different than originally anticipated.  And I do suggest if you’re interested in funding these transportation projects, while the Administration does not agree with this policy, there is a quick and easy way to get to market, which is to sell $1.2 billion of the ERBs to repay the General Fund, to repay the transportation accounts.  That would be expeditiously done.  It would give cost-effective borrowing to the state.  It would allow you to accomplish your public policy objectives.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Have there been other bonds that have went up for sale that have not had the opinion of the attorney general?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Boy, I can’t….certainly state issuance, no.  And I want to say something, I don’t think this is the attorney general’s problem.  This is….first of all, you need the bond counsel opinion and the attorney general’s opinion.  And what they’ll be doing is looking at the litigation and interpreting the law.  They’re not going to do anything other than that.  And I’m not aware of any state issuances that have been done without bond counsel opinion or that AG’s opinion.  Frankly, if you try to do that, I think you couldn’t get ratings and you wouldn’t have buyers.

SENATOR DENHAM:  But you have sold bonds many different times now with litigation pending—correct?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, I’m trying to think.  Major bond issues?


SENATOR DENHAM:  Energy bonds.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Not against….no, actually, energy bonds, the litigation against those bonds themselves was resolved prior to.  There were other pieces of litigation that didn’t affect our security and didn’t affect our rates.  But, you know, that, as you may remember, was delayed by, gee, close to a year plus, as we had to fight through both getting the regulatory agreements in place and now, your testing my memory because I’m age 51, but I believe there were a couple pieces of litigation that we had to dispose of before we could go to sale.  The pension obligation bonds, forget that we don’t agree on the policy of them, couldn’t go to sale now because they’re held up in court.  A prerequisite of buyers is, you know, look, they’re not buying stocks here where they know they’re taking risks.  They’re buying state of California bonds.  The things you need to go to market is, you need rating agency ratings, you need litigation resolved, and a clean legal opinion, period.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Senator, we also have, and members, Mathew Campbell from the attorney general’s office, as well.  Thanks for being here.


MR. ANGELIDES:  And then I need to move to my next appointment, but I do want to see if there’s any other questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Cox has one more question.


SENATOR DENAHM:  If I could ask one last question.  I know you have a busy schedule.  On the credit enhancement on the ratings, how does this compare to, again, Connecticut or other bonds that have been issued in the past on what that rating will or will not be?

MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, how much we have to pay for credit enhancement will be a negotiation between our team—the state team, which is very collaborative.  You ought to know, we have policy disagreements, but on this front, we sit together and we work together because we have the same state interests.  How much we have to pay the banks or the bond insurers will be a negotiation.  It will be based on, frankly the risks they see they’ll want to charge us as much as they can.  And they’ll look at the tribes financial information and all the risks out there and say, okay, weighing that we want X dollars to take the risk of guaranteeing your bonds.  We’ll look at the same information.  So we’ll have a negotiation.  Absent that negotiation having been joined, and frankly, absent getting the financial information, I can’t give you right now, nor can we intelligently tell you, the range that we’re going to have to pay.  Perhaps Mr. Fernandez can elaborate more on other bonds sales kind of the range we pay for credit enhancements.  That was question one—correct?


SENATOR DENHAM:  Yes.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Question two…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Any reason why this would be at any more risk than any other state, other states that have passed a bond like this?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, it has nothing to do with any other state, it has to do with when the banks and we look at the financial information for the tribes—what do they want to charge us at the bank level for guaranteeing these bonds, and we’ll then negotiate the best price.  We want to get it for the cheapest rate possible, clearly, and we’ll hope that there will be a lot of banks and bond insurers who will want to do it so we can have a competitive environment to do it.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And finally, you said you thought that it would take three to six months once we have the various criteria—the tribal information, the litigation opinion, three to six months after you have all of that to be able to sell the bonds and get that money back under Prop. 42?

MR. ANGELIDES:  Yeah.  I mean, hopefully we’ll do it faster than slower.  But the tribal information by the way, we’re one tribe away from having the confidentiality agreements that will allow us to have all that, so I don’t see that as going to be a critical time path problem.  It’s going to be the litigation and the legal opinions, and you really should kind of get the best view of the AG and the Administration on that because they are the lead on that part of it for our team.  But yeah, we would move as quickly as we could once those issues are cleared away.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And I know Senator Cox has a couple of questions, but I would just ask you in closing, that if you could keep this committee in particular abreast of the various timelines.  I’d like to see a timeline.  I want to make sure I get back to my constituents on some various transportation projects that are being held up right now.  So any information that you can provide us would be helpful.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well we did in October, which we’ll provide you with, a timeline for both this and the pension obligation bonds assuming no litigation.  Just to be candid with you, we can have no timeline right now.  What I can tell you is, three to six months after the resolution of litigation and/or the issuance of a clean opinion, we can be in the market.  But right now, it’s a timeline in abeyance.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Cox.


MR. ANGELIDES:  I always want to take questions from my former county supervisor, now, Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Thank you very much.  I appreciate that, sir.  I wanted to ask you about the confidentiality.  I’m not sure that I understand that.  I’m not sure, I believe the comment you made was, that these bonds will not go forward until you see the confidential statements.  I’m asking, is that the treasurer or the treasurer’s department?  Who are you speaking as?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, the legislation originally provided to whom these should go, but in terms of giving it to the state, the minute the state had them, Infrastructure Bank or our office, they would become a public record.  And clearly, the tribes, it’s not what the tribes wanted.  So bottom line is, the Legislature passed an amendment that said they could then be provided to state agencies and remain confidential.  The confidentiality agreements specify a limited number of people in our office who have access to this information.  They are, the deputy treasurer, who sits over public finance; they are, Mr. Fernandez and Katie Carroll in the Public Finance Division; they are our general counsel; and, me, because at the end of the day, I will be responsible for signing off on whatever fees are proposed or negotiated.  It’s my fiduciary duty.  So in the end, I will have to have access to them should I obviously have questions from my staff to ask why are the fees at this level; what are the issues?  They can’t sit there and tell the treasurer, “We can’t tell you.”  So obviously, my interest is on a need to know basis.  When I sign off on their recommendations to me, or we should be paying X dollars to the following institutions for credit enhancement, obviously as treasurer I have to be able to fill my fiduciary duty; ask the questions I need to ask; and have my staff give me the information so I can make an informed decision.

SENATOR COX:  And if I understood correctly, you said that you have four of the tribes….


MR. ANGELIDES:  Correct.


SENATOR COX:  Which gives you the ability, and for you personally, to look at the documents?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Correct.


SENATOR COX:  And you’re saying you have one tribe that has not done that, and you expect to have that done in a period of two weeks, is that what was said?


MR. ANGELIDES:  Well, a matter of weeks.  As soon as we get them, the agreements are out to them….I don’t know, do they have remaining issues, or are they just going through it with their counsel at this point?


MR. FERNANDEZ:  (inaudible)


MR. ANGELIDES:  Yes.


SENATOR COX:  So you think you’re going to have that done in a period of two weeks.  All right.  Thank you very much.

MR. ANGELIDES:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions from members? 


MR. ANGELIDES:  Good.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Treasurer.


MR. ANGELIDES:  Thank you all very, very much.  And thank you for asking me to come here today.  Do you want my staff to stay or are you done with us?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Unless members have other questions for staff, fine.  Thank you very much.  The attorney general’s office, any comments.


MATT CAMPBELL:  Deputy Attorney General Matt Campbell.  The Attorney General appreciates the importance of the issues that you’re addressing in this hearing today.  And we apologize that we have not been able to participate formally as part of the panel.  And the reason for that is the very question that has come up on several occasions.  And that is, the litigation.  Because the attorney general in his role is representing the governor’s office in the litigation, the attorney general has an ethical responsibility to maintain the confidentiality of his role in the litigation.  So I know it’s frustrating, but unfortunately we cannot get into the details of the litigation.  And really, we’re very constrained in what we can talk about without breaching our ethical responsibilities.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Does that preclude him to being able to talk to the treasurer and say, “I think we’re two weeks away;” “I think we’re two months away;” “I think we’re two years away?”


MR. CAMPBELL:  I believe we can talk about timeframes with the treasurer.  Having done quite a bit of litigation myself, there’s often not very much certainty in timeframes, but we do occasionally make our best estimates.  And we would be happy to follow up with the treasurer’s office on that request to the extent that we can.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Do you have a best estimate today?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I do not.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And what is holding you up from that best estimate?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I have not been fully briefed on the litigation, and I’m not sure whether, at this point, an estimate in terms of the timing of the litigation is something that we can discuss in this forum.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Is there a reason that the attorney general and the treasurer have not met yet to discuss the timeline?


MR. CAMPBELL:  I don’t know whether they have or have not.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Apparently they have not.  If you could encourage that, I think that we would all welcome a timeline to be able to get back to our districts on.


MR. CAMPBELL:  I will make that suggestion. 


SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That you.  Any other suggestions from members?  Thank you very much.  


Okay, let’s get to the lawsuits, if we could.  We have Steven Mayer.


JOE LANG:  Mr. Chairman, members, briefly, I’m Joe Lang.  I’m representing Hollywood Park and Bay Meadows Racetracks.  Here simply to introduce Mr. Steven Mayer, who is counsel to the racetracks, who are plaintiffs in the litigation that’s been discussed so far.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you for joining us.


STEVEN MAYER:  I’m honored to be here today before the committee to discuss the lawsuit and the issues that it presents.  I want to say at the outset that the lawsuit was not something that the racetracks did lightly.  But we felt that we had to do it because of the provisions of the amended compacts in 
AB 687.  Because unlike the original compacts that were approved in 1999 and 2000, the amended compacts potentially foreclose all non-Indian gaming class-three gaming within an area of three-quarters of the state, which is defined in the amended compacts as the tribes core geographic markets.  Upon issuance of the bonds authorized by AB 687, the bill will effectively preempt both the voters of California and the Legislature for 18 years, which is the approximate life of the bonds, from making any change in gaming policy that might violate the tribe’s exclusivity under the amended compacts.  That’s right, the issuance of the bonds takes away the right of the voters and the right of the Legislature to make changes in gaming policy over the next 18 years.  
Worse still—AB 687 was enacted as an urgency statute and under the California Constitution, urgency statutes are exempt from the referendum.  That means the tracks had no way to take their case about the statute and the problems that it represents to the people of California.  As a result, they brought the lawsuit and there are three principal claims In the lawsuit.


First, we claimed that AB 687 was unconstitutionally enacted as an urgency statute.  Under the California Constitution, no urgency statute can grant any franchise or special privilege, but that’s exactly what AB 687 does.  First it grants the five tribes an unlimited number of slot machines.  Second, as I mentioned, it gives them monopoly power over class-three gaming in three-quarters of the state of California.  And third, it gives the five tribes special private right of action in case the state changes its mind and does anything which the tribes think would violate that policy in gaming exclusivity.  So for those reasons, the enactment of AB 687 violates the provision of the California constitution which prohibits an urgency statute from giving anyone any franchise or special privilege.


The second claim in the lawsuit is that AB 687 violates Prop. 58, which you’ll recall was proposed by the Legislature and enacted by the voters in March of 2004, to stop what the governor called “credit card financing.”  That is, the practice of solving a year-end budget deficit through bond financing.  But of course, that’s exactly what AB 687 does, as you’ve heard today, it takes the revenue stream that the bond produces and uses it to repay loans that the General Fund previously made from the transportation funds created by 
Prop. 42 and others.


Third, AB 687 unconstitutionally attempts to contract away the state’s police power.  One of the core functions of the police power historically has been the right to regulate gaming.  And as I mentioned, AB 687 takes that power away.  It prevents either this body or the voters from amending Prop. 1A to allow more class-three gaming in California for a period of 18 years—almost two decades.  


So for all these reasons, we believe that AB 687 is constitutionally vulnerable, and candidly, we’re not surprised that you’ve heard today that no bond counsel will issue an opinion that our lawsuit has no merit.


We would like to be able to resolve this case amicably.  We’d like to be able to find something that will give the tracks the economic viability they need to survive in the coming decades.  But unless and until that happens, the lawsuit will proceed to resolution so to prevent the state from backing itself into a corner where they cannot take the steps that the tracks need to become economically viable over the next several decades.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Let me go to some things you said near the end.  You mentioned “to enhance the economic viability of the tracks” —what does that mean?

MR. LANG:  Mr. Chairman, if I can answer that question.  I think what that means is, our ability to survive as an industry in California, and the 60,000 jobs that go along with that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And given that, that would mean you’re seeking what remedy?


MR. LANG:  At this point, Mr. Chairman, we have had only preliminary discussions with the various policymakers to get to the table to discuss potential remedies.  At the end of the day, I think you’ve heard testimony in the past that the racing industry is faced with sort of a double whammy competition.  One is competition from racing in other states that currently are able to utilize revenue streams from other gaming to supplement their purses to the degree that horses running in states like, New Mexico, Louisiana, Maryland, New York, are running for purses, oftentimes, twice the size of those purses here in California.  The net result of that is, that we lose horses.


The second part of that competition is our respectively referring to the Indian gaming tribes who do provide competition for us here in the state.  Being hit by those two forms of competition without some way to compete with them by developing new revenue sources, the racing industry will cease to exist.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s a remedy you’re seeking through negotiations?


MR. LANG:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If indeed the court, takes it all the way out to a judgment, any thought on what the court remedy might be in terms of what they might…


MR. MAYER:  I think the court will hold that AB 687 is unconstitutional on one or more of the grounds I’ve mentioned and invalidate the bonds in every step taken by the state to sell the bonds.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that would be the remedy?


MR. MAYER:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And any thought along in terms of estimation of time?  I mean obviously Vice Chair Denham mentioned, you know, we all have 109 road projects that are in jeopardy, obviously.  I mean, what could you tell the members of the Legislature in terms of what the timeframe is in order to, in essence, get to this discussion of economic viability?


MR. MAYER:  Well we’re certainly amenable to doing whatever we can to have a prompt resolution of the lawsuit.  I think I would point out however, that we filed our lawsuit in September and we filed an amended complaint in October, and since then, we’ve done nothing other than to litigate with the state over where the lawsuit is going to be tried; either in Alameda County, which is the forum that we chose, or in Sacramento County, which is where the state wants it to be.  They filed two motions for change of venue, and the second one is going to be heard tomorrow.  That’s not our doing.  We didn’t file two motions about where the lawsuit was going to be tried.  We would have been happy if they filed a demurrer or a motion for summary judgment to litigate on the merits, but for whatever reason, the state has chosen not to do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. LANG:  Mr. Chairman, I might also answer that because I think there’s a policy question part of your question.  And we stand by the ready basically at any time at any place to be involved in discussions that would lead to the industry’s ability to survive and lead to potentially settlement and resolution of lawsuit.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Obviously, it sounds as though June 15th is probably the time we’re all worried about, given it’s a component of the budget and there are transportations tied to that.  Any thought we’d meet that?


MR. MAYER:  I think there is zero likelihood that that will happen except for a settlement.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So from a process point of view, meeting our budgetary timeline, that’s probably, you’re saying zero?


MR. MAYER:  Zero, that’s right.  I mean, to just give one example, we’re now in February.  Under legislation that the Legislature passed a couple years ago, you have to give 75 days of a notice for summary of judgment, so that already pushes it into April, and it will be briefed, and then there may be appeals depending on what happens.  I think the June 15th deadline is….I think there’s a zero likelihood that the litigation will be resolved by then, short of settlement.


MR. LANG:  Short of the settlement, right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the little further on the impact, Mr. Lang, you mentioned just the survival aspects of your clients when we’re talking about this 18-year exclusive provisions in these class-three gamings.  A little more detail on that, if we could.  I mean, what is it specifically in terms of the survival aspects?  What are you referring to?

MR. LANG:  Well I mentioned briefly the types of competition that we’re facing right now, and the fact that, because of these larger purses that are occurring in other states, we’re losing horses here in California.  That has a direct impact on our revenue and our ability to compete with those other states, as well as with gaming here in California.  I guess the response to that to some degree in terms of survival is, without some other form of revenue, some other revenue stream to enhance our purses to be competitive with those in other states, we will continue to lose horses; our wagering will continue to suffer; and at the end of the day, we won’t be an economically viable industry.  That’s important not just from the standpoint of the six or seven major racing facilities in the state plus the fairs and the folks associated with it, but the trickle down effect in terms of the breeders that breed horses in this state, the agricultural interests that provide the feed and other support for those.  It’s been well documented that that involves somewhere around 60,000 jobs, and they are definitely at peril here.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Members, any questions?  Senator Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I think, Mr. Lang, you said it very well.  After holding several meetings, I’ll just give you an example, there’s a race to the horseracing business situation in the state.  It used to be very profitable, very viable sporting game at one time years ago, and a few years ago.  So we had these hearings.  One hearing I had to call “Past, Present, and Future.”  The future looked pretty bad.  Then we had another big legislative hearing, “Win, Place, Show, or Scratched.”  Well everybody knows what scratched means.  We’re about to get scratched here.  Now I’ve looked, well I’m not going to get into long detail about it. 
But I think, Mr. Lang, you said it very well.  And we want to make it known as the sport of kings, but it’s a sport of kings and queens and we’re going to have to do that with some real positive impact on the state as it relates to the horseracing industry.


MR. LANG:  I think, Senator Vincent, you sort of said it right.  This is not something that we wanted to do; it’s not something that we relish because we understand the various serious policy implications; and the real implications for transportation projects in this state.  We only do this because our back is against the wall and it’s a matter of survival.  If those bonds get issued pursuant to the provisions in AB 687, you the Legislature or the voters of California will be unable to grant the racing industry any type of relief involving any additional revenue streams from gaming.  And without the ability to do that for 18 years, we essentially, with the way we see it is, that will lock us out of getting the relief we need and unfortunately that “scratch” that Senator Vincent is talking about, will become a reality.  And it’s the nature of the issuance of the bonds that creates that problem.


SENATOR VINCENT:  You know, you also indicated about we’re losing horses, we’re losing a lot more than that.  We’re losing trainers and also we’re losing the size of the fields.  If you don’t have the horses and you don’t have the fields, you can’t do exotic betting.  If you can’t do exotic betting, you can’t do trifectas, you can’t do parlays.  There’s big money in that.  And with the small fields we’re getting now, it’s just not going to happen.  

I just got the word from jockey Chris McCarren, some other things are going to happen, which will be very devastating.  And lots of people, as you say, are leaving California.  I mean you’re talking about hall of fame jockeys who are leaving here and going places to establish other institutions in other states.
This guy was talking about Wisconsin, Illinois, but it was Iowa which he wanted to talk about.  But you know, Iowa, Prairie Meadows was closing.  It was going to close.  They got another means of financing.  We all know what that is—slot machines.  And they’re not closing now, they’re extending their facilities another $60 million to enhance racing in Iowa.  The same thing happened in Indiana, and it’s happening….you know, people are going.  You take a regular claiming race here, it used to be, maybe you have a claiming race $10,000, $15,000.  Well they do it every day in other states now, where now our claiming races are like $5,000 and $7,000, and it’s a bad situation.  And I think we should really take a hard look.

Thanks.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Members, any other questions?  Just from the remedy aspect, are we saying the tracks aren’t going to survive without slots in the future, or is there some other sort of remedy revenue share type issue that you’re looking at?


MR. LANG:  The way that the industry has viewed it, Mr. Chairman, is that it requires a very substantial revenue stream on an annual basis.  The only place that we’ve been able to determine that would allow that revenue stream to occur, would be some other additional form of gaming.  That’s not to say that there isn’t another revenue stream that might occur, it just means at this point that’s the only one that we can find.  And, if in fact there are discussions and negotiations about things, we’re here to talk.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you very much.  Appreciate it.


Jay Hansen, Legislative Director, State Building and Construction Trades Council.  This is the last formalized person on our agenda, and of course, there is opportunity for public comment right after this.


Thanks for joining us, Mr. Hansen.  Appreciate it.


JAY HANSEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Obviously we would just transition into the projects that are in jeopardy and peril, any maybe wanted to get from your perspective to the committee’s, job creation, what are we missing on just the numbers and road projects?


MR. HANSEN:  Well, the State Building Trades was involved in the negotiations on the tribal compacts as far as the money was dedicated to the pay back at the enormous outstanding debt to the state’s transportation funds.  The Federal Department of Commerce estimates that for every billion dollars in construction that’s done in transportation, it creates 29,000 direct transportation jobs and an additional 20,000 plus jobs in related industries, so we know that that’s something that’s a very positive, obviously for our industry; it’s very positive for the stat’s economy; and let alone the fact that the state’s facing unprecedented gridlock and it slows down the economy.  It was interesting to be brought into negotiations as far as tying gaming to transportation.  We’re willing to be supportive of that and just trying to find any kind of additional resources to pay back the debt that’s there for transportation funds.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the projects that are in jeopardy, do you have a thought on maybe a difference in policy perspectives, the treasurer is saying we could go to market today if we just went out and issued $1.2 billion of some of these economic recovery bonds, at a lower rate, versus structuring this private placement in a way that would accomplish only $800-….this is rendition somewhat, garnering $800-, $900 million, any thoughts on that?


MR. HANSEN:  Well we definitely would urge the Legislature to take a look at that option, because there is an ability to sell $1.2 billion worth of bonds today.  We’ve been assured by many folks in the building, Administration and Legislature, that at some point in time this money will materialize; that there will be a revenue stream created after negotiations have to happen among the interested parties here.  But why jeopardize transportation projects that were funded by the Legislature last year?  
The California Transportation Commission put out its report this year and there are several projects that just aren’t going to happen that are a direct result of not having this Indian gaming bond go through that are directly tied to the passage of this bond.  And there’s six different projects with $450 million worth of work that needs to be done:  Butte County, State Route 149; Contra Costa County, Route 80; Fresno County, Route 99; L.A., Highway 5; San Joaquin, Route 205; and Sonoma, 101.  Those projects have been scheduled from around the state. 

Additionally, there is another list of projects in the report.  There are projects in every single county in the state—over $2 billion worth of projects.  A part of the dilemma is, environmental impact reports done on these projects, and after they sit on a shelf for a certain amount of time, they go stale, and then you have to go back and redo the EIRs to get the transportation projects going.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the consequence of not only stretching this out, as Finance said, maybe near the end of summer or early December, the treasurer said three months or so in terms of getting that ready, we’re looking probably somewhere between 18 months.  The projects are falling off the lists, is that correct with what you’re saying?


MR. HANSEN:  Correct.  They fall of the list and it’s difficult to get them back on.  They have to go back to the process.  It’s a five-year process of funding, so it’s difficult to have any money flow stopped.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then let me get your thoughts on, one of the key aspects today was whether or not the gaming tribes that have signed compacts actually have the money sent—it’s in the bank; it’s there; and I think the overriding answer on that today is, absolutely yes.  Every cent of the 
$25 million that needed to be there is there, but it’s going to build until such time that we are able to issue these bonds.  And given that you’ve mentioned things falling off the list, should we spend that then immediately to at least get to the things that we can fund on the list, or do we just carry it forward in some sort of sinking fund and wait for the bonds to be issued?


MR. HANSEN:  I think our fear would be that if the money is sitting in there in an account unspent that it will be spent, but it will be spent for something else.  So we’d certainly like to see the money dedicated to transportation.  And as you may be aware, the federal match for transportation projects is 88.5 percent.  The state only has to come up with 11.5 percent for Garvey bonded funds, so $25 million, $50 million, as these amounts accrue, could fund a gigantic amount of transportation projects.  So I think though we haven’t taken a formal position, my inclination would be that the State Building Trades and the greater transportation community would be in favor of allocating the money now towards transportation projects and understanding that might lower the bond down a little bit, but at least something is happening now where we’re not waiting for that something to happen.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  So if we sit down and try to figure out the priorities, I’m really interested in my area….well you know, I come from the worst congested area in the nation, probably.  I wonder if it would be worth our while to sit down and come up with some prioritized list.  Because if we don’t do that, it seems to me that everybody is taking their share and we’re just sitting there waiting for something to happen so that we can have ours, and that means 7,700 jobs in my area.  I think we just have to start monopolizing the time and the energy to try to bring something together to do it, otherwise everybody else gets the money and we sit there and wait in our cars burning up energy, burning up gas, and contributing to the pollution that is generating more and more everyday.  I think we have to start somewhere, and perhaps, sitting down and talking about this is probably the best way to do it and start prioritizing.  And I would put the Inland Empire on the top of the list.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think Senator Soto hits a good point.  I mean, as we’re waiting, as Senator Soto said, is there, have you heard, or is there a movement to prioritize the money that we have now rather than having it wait in the bank?  Is that ongoing?  Any discussions?


MR. HANSEN:  The prioritization takes place at the Transportation Commission and they have a list of priority projects.  I know the Legislature can involve itself in that process should they choose to.  We’re comfortable with either process, though the Transportation Commission does take a good unbiased look and understands where the transportation projects need to happen, but they are scattered all over the state.  So there’s plenty for every legislator to pick and choose issues that would be directly important to their district and try to make something happen and use the ability of the Garvey bonding, though it’s probably not the best to keep bonding and bonding and bonding, at least it’s a good jumpstart for the economy and some transportation projects to get going.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Soto, any other questions?

SENATOR SOTO:  No.  I’m going to write a letter.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m not sure, Senator Soto, are you still on Senate Trans?  That would be a great, maybe pickup, from this hearing, to look at the dollars that are accruing in the particular fund prior to the bond being issued and maybe the Trans….I’m not on Transportation anymore, but maybe prioritizing as you said, I think that might be a good step.


SENATOR SOTO:  I think that’s where you have to start, because if you don’t start prioritizing it’s just going to be scattered as you said a little while ago.  It’s scattered everywhere and it’s not really one area is not getting enough attention to get started to do anything and then a little bit goes to some other area.  So I think you have to start putting it where the need probably is most outstanding.


MR. HANSEN:  There’s one just other small issue that became involved with this, during the end of the budget negotiations last year.  The bond was originally scheduled to be a $1 billion bond.  At the last final hours of the budget negotiations, the Legislature and the Administration borrowed an additional $200 million of transportation funding and just increased the size of the bond.  We were alarmed at that last minute negotiation.  And we understand the difficulty the state’s facing in its budget, but we thought, what happens if the bond never comes through?  And of course we were assured by the Administration and many other folks not to worry; done deal; the money is in the bank.  So we asked for just some assurances that should the bond not happen that that additional $200 million that was scheduled to be in the transportation budget would be put back in there, and we were assured by the Department of Finance that that money would be filled.  So that $200 million is due back into the transportation this year before the end of the budget cycle.  I know a lot of people seem to forget deals around here sometimes, so we’re particularly interested in making sure that that money comes back in there and we understand that deals like this are….the bond deal is very complicated.  There’s a lot of different interested parties that are in a lot of different places than we are.  We don’t like to see transportation used as kind of a buffer to try to move things around, so we’re particularly concerned about this transportation bond because of the $200 million that was borrowed at the last minute, and would like to make sure that that money is repaid back into the transportation account.  So we’re willing to be a good partner throughout these negotiations.  And we appreciate the Legislature and the Administration making a commitment to fund transportation projects and stand ready to be partners again.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point.  And we’ll track that.  At least I wasn’t aware of the $200 million, so we’ll definitely want to do that.  Any other questions, members?  Mr. Hansen, thank you very much.  Appreciate it.


Okay, we are at the end of the hearing and are there any public comments at this time?  Any comments from members?


SENATOR SOTO:  I want to thank you for having this hearing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto, accept my apology again, for the beginning of the hearing.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Mr. Chairman, just a very, very good meeting.  Thanks.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  And thank you, as always, to my two loyal friends who always sit through all of my hearings.  Senator Soto even travels to Shafter, California to sit through hearings.  I appreciate it very much.  And for the audience, thank you for being here.  And we will adjourn the hearing.
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